**RECEIVED**

**Jun 03 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes

The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland

The Honorable L. Casey Manning

The Honorable Robert E. Hood

Appellate Case No. 2023-001996

Best Choice Roofing & Home Improvement, Inc.....Appellant,

v.

Tyler Woods.....Respondent,

**APPELLANT’S INITIAL BRIEF**

Townes B. Johnson III (SC Bar# 75412)  
TOWNES B. JOHNSON III, LLC  
PO BOX 9246  
GREENVILLE, SC 29604  
PH: (864) 757-4899

Attorney for Appellant

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE COURT, IN ITS FEBRUARY 19, 2019, MARCH 20, 2019 AND OCTOBER 22, 2019 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT TYLER WOODS WOULD BE PREJUDICED BY BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC.'S MOTION TO AMEND BEING GRANTED.
- II. THE COURT, IN ITS FEBRUARY 19, 2019, MARCH 20, 2019 AND OCTOBER 22, 2019 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO FREELY AND LIBERALLY GRANT BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC.'S MOTION TO AMEND IN ACCORDANCE WITH SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.
- III. THE COURT, IN ITS APRIL 28, 2022 AND JULY 28, 2022 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC. HAD TORTIOUSLY INTERFERED WITH WOODS' CONTRACT WITH PREMIER ROOFING.
- IV. THE COURT, IN ITS APRIL 28, 2022 AND JULY 28, 2022 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC. HAD VIOLATED THE SOUTH CAROLINA FRIVOLOUS CIVIL PROCEEDINGS SANCTIONS ACT.
- V. THE COURT, IN ITS MARCH 27, 2023 AND DECEMBER 6, 2023 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND NUMEROUS FINDINGS OF FACT.
- VI. THE COURT, IN ITS MARCH 27, 2023 AND DECEMBER 6, 2023 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY SPECULATED AS TO WOODS' DAMAGES.
- VII. THE COURT, IN ITS MARCH 27, 2023 AND DECEMBER 6, 2023 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT THE ATTORNEYS' FEES SOUGHT WERE REASONABLE.
- VIII. THE COURT, IN ITS MARCH 27, 2023 AND DECEMBER 6, 2023 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about March 8, 2018, Plaintiff/Appellant Best Choice Roofing & Home Improvement, Inc (“BCR”) brought this action against Defendant/Respondent Tyler Woods (“Woods”) for a breach of non-compete and confidentiality provisions in his employment agreement with BCR. On or about June 11, 2018, Woods filed both his Motion to Dismiss and his Answer and Counterclaims. On July 11, 2018, BCR filed its reply to Woods' counterclaims. After engaging in written discovery, BCR on December 18, 2018, filed a motion to amend the Complaint to withdraw its cause of action for breach of non-compete and confidentiality provision of the employment agreement and add new causes of action against Woods for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, unfair trade practices and conversion. As of December 18, 2018, the case had not been placed on any jury trial rosters and the parties had not mediated.

The next day, on December 19, 2018, Woods filed a motion for Summary Judgment as to Plaintiffs original Complaint and as to its counterclaims. A motion hearing was held on January 30, 2019 before the Honorable Robert E. Hood, and, on February 19, 2019, the Court issued its Order granting Woods' motion for Summary Judgment and denying BCR's Motion to Amend. On February 28, 2019, BCR filed its first motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend Judge Hood's February 19, 2019 Order. On March 20, 2019, the Court issued a revised Order granting Woods' motion for Summary Judgment and denying BCR's Motion to Amend. On March 28, 2019, BCR filed its second Motion to Reconsider, Alter or Amend and on October 22, 2019, the Honorable Robert E. Hood denied BCR's motion. An appeal ensued, but was dismissed on February 9, 2022 for due to the issue of an order denying a motion to amend not being immediately appealable.

Woods' Motion for Summary Judgment was, thereafter, set for April 4, 2022 before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. On April 28, 2022, the Court issued its Order granting Woods' Motion for Summary Judgment. On May 6, 2022, BCR filed its third Motion to Alter or Amend and on July 29, 2022, the Honorable L. Casey Manning denied BCR's motion.

On November 2, 2022, the Honorable L. Casey Manning ordered this matter to be referred to the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland for the limited purpose of receiving evidence, making determinations, and issue final orders with regard to any remedy sought by Woods in this action and on January 25, 2023 a damages hearing was held. On March 27, 2023, the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland awarded damages to Woods in the amount of \$4,851,235.73.

On April 2, 2023, BCR filed its fourth Motion to Alter or Amend and on April 5, 2023 supplemented its motion with the referenced "Exhibit A". On July 12, 2023, the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland recused himself from the matter and, on July 19, 2023, BCR filed its fifth Motion to Alter or Amend. By Form 4 Order dated December 6, 2023, the Honorable Jocelyn Newman, as Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes, denied BCR's fourth and fifth Motions to Alter or Amend. This appeal ensued with BCR's Notice of Appeal dated December 20, 2023 and Amended Notice of Appeal dated December 21, 2023.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On or about April 19, 2017, Woods entered into an employment agreement with BCR wherein Woods was going to relocate to the Atlanta, Georgia metro area to work for Plaintiff. The employment agreement had a restrictive covenant which stated, that Woods "shall not directly or indirectly engage, own, manage, control, operate, be employed by, participate in, or be connected in any manner with the ownership, management, operation, or control of any

business similar to the type of business conducted by the [BCR] for a period on ONE (1) year and within 100 miles from the present locations of [BCR's] business.” Further, in conjunction with Woods' relocation, BCR advanced Woods the sum of \$2,500 for relocation expenses. Less than two weeks later, on April 29, 2017, Woods left BCR and moved to Columbia, South Carolina and failed to return to BCR the \$2,500 BCR had advanced Woods.

Woods' employment in Columbia, South Carolina was with Premier Roofing. At Premier Roofing, Woods was receiving an hourly wage of \$15.63 an hour. On November 6, 2017, the law firm of Busch, Reed, Jones & Leeper, P.C., on behalf of BCR, sent a letter to Premier Roofing informing them of the restrictive covenant in Woods' employment agreement with BCR. At that time and in April, 2017, however, BCR no longer had its operations in August, Georgia within 100 miles of Premier Roofing's location. On November 28, 2017, Premier Roofing terminated Woods.

At no time was evidence presented that showed: 1) that any of BCR's attorney's actions were unreasonable or in violation of South Carolina Code Ann. § 15-36-10(A)(4)(a); 2) BCR's degree of culpability of its conduct; 3) BCR's awareness or concealment of its conduct; 4) the existence of similar past conduct; and 5) whether the punitive damages award was reasonably related to the harm likely to result from such conduct.

Additionally, at the January 25, 2023 damages hearing, the only document Woods presented to support any damages was his Premier Roofing agreement wherein he was receiving an hourly wage of \$15.63 an hour. Woods did not present any evidence to support: 1) damage to his reputation; 2) that he was crippled from finding work in the roofing industry; 3) that his termination from Premier had led to health problems; 4) that he had struggled to find jobs to support his family; or 5) that the money he will now make is considerably less than what

would have been otherwise been available to him.

## ARGUMENT

**I. THE COURT, IN ITS FEBRUARY 19, 2019, MARCH 20, 2019 AND OCTOBER 22, 2019 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT TYLER WOODS WOULD BE PREJUDICED BY BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC.'S MOTION TO AMEND BEING GRANTED.**

In the Court's February 19, 2019 Order and March 20, 2019 Order, the Court found that Woods would be prejudiced by BCR being granted leave to amend its Complaint under Rule 15, SCRCF. The Court, however, failed to show that Woods would lack either notice or an opportunity to refute BCR's amended claims. *See Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276 607 S.E.2d 711 (Ct. App. 2005) (*The prejudice Rule 15 envisions is a lack of notice that the new issue is going to be tried, and a lack of opportunity to refute it. (Citing Tanner v. Florence County Treasurer, 336 S.C. 552,521 S.E.2d 153 (1999)).* Further, as the parties had not engaged in any discovery other than written discovery, had not mediated the case and the case was not on any jury trial dockets as of BCR's filing of its Motion to Amend, it cannot be argued that Woods would not have had notice of the amended claims or the opportunity to refute them. The Court, accordingly, erroneously found that Woods would be prejudiced by BCR being granted leave to amend its Complaint.

**II. THE COURT, IN ITS FEBRUARY 19, 2019, MARCH 20, 2019 AND OCTOBER 22, 2019 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO FREELY AND LIBERALLY GRANT BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC.'S MOTION TO AMEND IN ACCORDANCE WITH SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.**

As Woods would suffer no prejudice as a result of the grant of BCR's Motion to Amend, South Carolina law strongly favors the grant of leave to amend. *Id. (Leave to amend pleadings pursuant to Rule 15, SCRCF, shall be liberally and freely given when justice so requires and does*

*not prejudice any other party. Citing Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 493 S.E.2d 826 (1997) *and This rule strongly favors amendments and the court is encouraged to freely grant leave to amend. Citing Jarrell v. Seaboard Sys. R.R.*, 294 S.C. 183, 363 S.E.2d 398 (Ct.App.1987)). In the case at hand, the Court erroneously failed to freely and liberally grant BCR' s Motion to Amend in accordance with long standing South Carolina law. Id.

**III. THE COURT, IN ITS APRIL 28, 2022 AND JULY 28, 2022 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC. HAD TORTIOUSLY INTERFERED WITH WOODS' CONTRACT WITH PREMIER ROOFING.**

**A. NO BREACH OF CONTRACT**

The elements of a cause of action for tortious interference with an existing contractual relationship are: (1) a contract; (2) knowledge of the contract by the tortfeasor; (3) intentional procurement by the tortfeasor of the contract's breach; (4) absence of justification; and (5) damages. *See DeBerry v. McCain*, 275 S.C. 569, 274 S.E.2d 293 (1981). Woods never proffered any evidence that the contract between Woods and Premier Roofing was actually breached. *See e.g. First Union Mortgage Corp. v. Thomas*, 317 S.C. 63, 451 S.E.2d 907 (Ct. App. 1994) (*Regardless of the defendant's behavior, there must actually be a breach of the underlying contract before there can be an interference with an existing contractual relationship.*). Accordingly, the Court's grant of Summary Judgment on Woods' cause of action for Tortious Interference was erroneous and improper.

**B. NO EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO SUPPORT TO ELEMENTS 3 AND 4**

Discovery in this matter is needed to determine whether the alleged interference was intentional and/or absent justification. *See e.g. Webb v. Elrod*, 308 S.C. 445, 418 S.E.2d 559 (Ct. App. 1992) (*the good faith exercise of a legal right by a party to a contract provides no basis for*

*an action for intentional interference with a contract despite the fact it causes a third party not to perform another contract with the plaintiff)* and *See Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69, 74 (1999) (“*summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.*”) The record is devoid of any evidence showing that procurement of the breach, if any, was intentional or that it was not the good faith exercise of a legal right. Accordingly, the Court’s grant of Summary Judgment on Woods’ cause of action for Tortious Interference was erroneous and improper.

**IV. THE COURT, IN ITS APRIL 28, 2022 AND JULY 28, 2022 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT BEST CHOICE ROOFING & HOME IMPROVEMENT, INC. HAD VIOLATED THE SOUTH CAROLINA FRIVOLOUS CIVIL PROCEEDINGS SANCTIONS ACT.**

**A. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The decision to impose sanctions is one in equity, and thus the appellate court reviews the circuit court's factual findings de novo. If the appellate court agrees with the factual findings, then it reviews the circuit court's decision to impose sanctions and the amount of sanctions for an abuse of discretion. *See Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Thompson*, 424 S.C. 520, 538 n.11, 818 S.E.2d 758, 768 n.11 (2018) (citations omitted).

**B. CAUSE OF ACTION NOT RIPE**

The South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act, § 15-36-10, et seq. (the “FCPSA”) does not provide an independent cause of action. *South Carolina Code Ann. § 15-36-10*. It allows a motion for sanctions to be made, following a disposition on the merits. *See Holmes v. E. Cooper Community Hosp., Inc.*, 758 S.E.2d 483, 495 (S.C. 2014) (“*Motions made pursuant to the FCPSA are post-trial motions.*”) and *see Carson v. Emerg. MD, LLC*, CV 6:20-1946-HMH, 2020 WL 6489528, at \*3 (D.S.C. Nov. 3, 2020) and *Barnhill, et al. v. Swilley, et al.*, No. 2014-CP-26-08367, p. 5 (Horry Cty. Cir. Ct. Mar. 21, 2016) (*dismissing FCPSA claim as unripe*).

Indeed, subsection(C)(1) states that the proper time for the court to consider a request for relief under the act is “[a]t the conclusion of a trial and after a verdict for or a verdict against damages has been rendered or a case has been dismissed by a directed verdict, summary judgment, or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, upon motion of the prevailing party.” Accordingly, the Court’s grant of Summary Judgment on Woods’ cause of action for violation of the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act was erroneous and improper.

### **C. BURDEN NOT MET**

Assuming *arguendo* that Woods’ cause of action for violation of the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act were ripe, which BCR denies, Woods has not presented any evidence showing that any of Plaintiff’s attorney’s actions were unreasonable or in violation of South Carolina Code Ann. § 15-36-10(A)(4)(a). To the contrary, it was without question reasonable for BCR’s attorney to rely on the information disclosed to him regarding the “present location[s] of [BCR] businesses” and to confirm same from the results of an internet search. It was also without question reasonable for BCR’s attorney to discontinue the pursuit of BCR’s claim for breach of the non-compete once BCR’s attorney learned that there was actually not a present location of BCR’s business within 100 miles of Woods at the end of Woods’ employment period. As such, the Court’s grant of Summary Judgment on Woods’ cause of action for violation of the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act was erroneous and improper.

## **V. THE COURT, IN ITS MARCH 27, 2023 AND DECEMBER 6, 2023 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND NUMEROUS FINDINGS OF FACT AND SPECULATED AS TO WOODS’ DAMAGES.**

### **A. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The decision to impose sanctions is one in equity, and thus the appellate court reviews the circuit court's factual findings de novo. If the appellate court agrees with the factual findings, then

it reviews the circuit court's decision to impose sanctions and the amount of sanctions for an abuse of discretion. *See Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Thompson*, 424 S.C. 520, 538 n.11, 818 S.E.2d 758, 768 n.11 (2018) (citations omitted).

## **B. ERRONEOUS AND SPECULATIVE FINDINGS**

1) In the Order, the Court erroneously states “On the record in open court, [BCR]’s counsel stated that through attempting to respond to Respondent’s written discovery requests, he learned from [BCR], his own client, that the original Complaint was baseless and about the existence of the allegedly purloined “advanced payment” which was the subject of [BCR]’s proposed Amended Complaint. (*Id.*)” when record of the January 30, 2019 hearing does not reflect as such.

2) The clear evidence at the hearing was that Woods was making \$15.63/hr (equating to an annual salary of \$31,260.00 on a 40/hr work week, 50 work week basis) which is a far stretch from the \$70,000 average and \$80,000 “on track to make” figures stated in the Order without any evidence supporting it. Further, the \$80,000 “on track to make” figure is clearly speculative.

3) The Order goes further to state that Woods “has been unable to return to the roofing industry because of the cloud hanging over his reputation since [BCR] interfered with his employment and earning potential” and that “stain [BCR] has left on Woods has crippled him from finding work in the roofing industry, caused him health problems, and he has struggled to find jobs to support his family and the money he will now make is considerably less than what would have been available to him had [BCR] not frivolously brought a claim against him” which are wholly unsupported by any evidence, purely speculative and rampant conjecture. *See Piggy Park*

*Enterprises, Inc. v. Schofield*, 251 S.C. 385, 162 S.E.2d 705 (S.C. 1968) (“the existence or amount of damages cannot be left to conjecture, guess or speculation”).

4) There was no evidence and there could be no evidence to support the premise that “the money he will now make is considerably less than what would have been available to him had [BCR] not frivolously brought a claim against him” other than speculation. *Id.*

5) There was no competent evidence to support the premise that “stain [BCR] has left on Woods... caused him health problems” as no medical opinion or medical records were submitted or provided. *Id.*

6) Woods did not present any evidence to support the basis for his health problems or the approximate \$14,000 in medical expenses.

7) The Order erroneously states that “the amount Woods has requested in lost wages is not left to conjecture or speculation and is calculated based upon Woods’ previous earning potential and his testimony that he was to be paid both a wage and a commission for his work at Premiere” when: (a) The only evidence presented showed that Woods was making \$15.63/hr and was not entitled to any bonus; (b) Woods did not present any evidence of his previous earning potential; and the Court’s entire rationale and analysis is based on speculation and conjecture. *Id.*

### **C. CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, the Court’s Order as to actual damages is clearly erroneous.

### **VI. THE COURT, IN ITS MARCH 27, 2023 AND DECEMBER 6, 2023 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY FOUND THAT THE ATTORNEYS’ FEES SOUGHT WERE REASONABLE.**

The award of attorneys’ fees in the amount of \$77,253.73 is not reasonable in consideration of the nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered in this matter as this case has

more or less been a very drawn out, unjust damages hearing. *Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 492, 427 S.E.2d 659 (S.C. 1993). This matter, as it currently stands, was a one-issue case – whether Woods was within 100 miles of a BCR present location – which was resolved with Woods’ requests to admit. All of the relevant motion hearing hinged on that fact. There were no depositions. There was no trial. BCR’s counsel, unlike Woods’ counsel, had to travel from Greenville for each hearing and still did not generate a third of Woods’ fees. \$77,253.73 is grossly unreasonable in consideration of the nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered and the award is erroneous.

## **VII. THE COURT, IN ITS MARCH 27, 2023 AND DECEMBER 6, 2023 ORDERS, ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED PUNITIVE DAMAGES.**

### **A. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The decision to impose sanctions is one in equity, and thus the appellate court reviews the circuit court's factual findings de novo. If the appellate court agrees with the factual findings, then it reviews the circuit court's decision to impose sanctions and the amount of sanctions for an abuse of discretion. *See Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Thompson*, 424 S.C. 520, 538 n.11, 818 S.E.2d 758, 768 n.11 (2018) (citations omitted).

### **B. GAMBLE FACTORS ERRONEOUSLY ANALYZED**

In accordance with *Gamble*, to ensure that a punitive damage award is proper, the trial court shall conduct a post-trial review and may consider the following: (1) defendant's degree of culpability; (2) duration of the conduct; (3) defendant's awareness or concealment; (4) the existence of similar past conduct; (5) likelihood the award will deter the defendant or others from like conduct; (6) whether the award is reasonably related to the harm likely to result from such conduct; (7) defendant's ability to pay; and finally, (8) as noted in *Haslip*, "other factors" deemed

appropriate. *See Gamble v. Stevenson*, 305 S.C. 104, 406 S.E.2d 350 (S.C. 1991). "Upon completing its review, dedicated to the postulate that no award be grossly disproportionate to the severity of the offense, the trial court shall set forth its findings on the record." *Id.*

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