**RECEIVED**

**Aug 05 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes  
The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland  
The Honorable L. Casey Manning  
The Honorable Robert E. Hood

Case No. 2018-CP-40-01318

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001996

---

Best Choice Roofing & Home Improvement, Inc.

Appellant,

vs.

Tyler Woods

Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Nekki Shutt (SC Bar No. 8784)  
Sarah J.M. Cox (SC Bar No. 104316)  
Lydia Robins Hendrix (SC Bar No. 106334)  
BURNETTE SHUTT & McDANIEL, P.A.

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

#### **ii. Discussion**

There is ample evidence in the court's record to support the damages award at issue here. The matter of damages was considered by the Master-In-Equity on January

25, 2023. Appellant presented no witnesses nor evidence. Respondent, on the other hand, personally testified and provided eight exhibits to the Master to support his claim for damages. Appellant failed to make contemporaneous objections to any of “Findings” it now takes issue with on appeal, therefore Appellant has not preserved any arguments against the sufficiency of Respondent’s evidence for appellate review.

Appellant appears to take issue with seven “Erroneous and Speculative Findings” made by the Master-in-Equity in his Order. Importantly, Appellant’s “erroneous and speculative findings” are all regarding evidence to which Appellant did not object at trial. Objections not raised in the trial court cannot be relied on in the appellate court. *Wilson v. Clary*, 212 S.C. 250, 47 S.E.2d 618 (1948). The duty is on the litigant to make a timely objection in order to preserve the right of review. *Parks v. Morris Homes Corp.*, 245 S.C. 461, 141 S.E.2d 129 (1965). A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review. *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994). The failure to make an objection at the time evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object.)). *See also Ball v. Canadian Am. Express Co.*, 314 S.C. 272, 442 S.E.2d 620 (Ct. App. 1994)(failure to object at trial waives right to object on appeal). Since Appellant’s counsel made no objections to any of the evidence regarding which he now complains in his brief, he has waived those objections.

Although Appellant failed to preserve his evidentiary arguments for appellate review, in an abundance of caution, Respondent will address each of Appellant’s “Erroneous and Speculative Findings” in turn.

First, Appellant complains that the Master-In-Equity erroneously described Appellant’s counsel’s behavior during a January 30, 2019 hearing in the facts section of

the Order and that “record of the January 30, 2019 hearing does not reflect as such”. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 5) Appellant makes no mention of why this is relevant to Respondent’s damages or how specifically this was in error.

Furthermore, the statement “Plaintiff’s counsel stated that through attempting to respond to Respondent’s written discovery requests, he learned from Plaintiff, his own client, that the original Complaint was baseless” is reflected in the January 30, 2019, transcript. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Pl.’s Mot. to Alt. or Am. of April 3, 2023, ¶ 3) The transcript reflects the following:

MR. JOHNSON: Your Honor, this case was originally filed as a straight breach of contract of an employment agreement based on a liquidated damages provision, and this case was referred to me through one of my classmates in law school who was in Atlanta.

Some bad information was passed to him and that was conveyed to me, and the complaint was drafted on those bad facts, Your Honor.

Through discovery we have learned that those facts have changed .  
..

(R..p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hr’g held Jan. 30, 2019, p. 4.) The record objectively reflects the Court’s statement that Appellant’s counsel learned that the Complaint had no merit in the discovery process.

Regardless of whether this was correct or not, Appellant’s relationship with its attorney is not relevant to determining what damages Respondent suffered due to Appellant’s actions in inducing Respondent’s employer to terminate his employment (for which task Appellant used an attorney licensed in Georgia, not Appellant’s current South Carolina counsel.) (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. 2.)

Second, Appellant complains that Respondent presented “no evidence” to support the Master’s finding that Respondent would have made \$80,000.00 a year at Premiere

Roofing had Appellant not induced Premiere to terminate his employment. This assertion is puzzling because Respondent provided evidence in the form of sworn testimony at the damages hearing that his compensation at Premiere “was tracking \$80,000 [yearly] there, that was with my commissions and sales. But I was making \$2,500 a month in salary.” (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. p. 28:1-11.) Appellant has waived any argument as to this evidence’s competency or speculative nature because Appellant’s counsel did not make a contemporaneous objection to this testimony. Therefore, Appellant’s second complaint fails.

Third, Appellant complains broadly that Respondent’s testimony about his damages is “wholly unsupported by any evidence, purely speculative and rampant conjecture.” Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 9. However, again, Appellant did not contemporaneously object to Respondent’s testimony on his damages. Respondent testified that:

My livelihood was taken away from me. It was a situation where, not only did this letter get me fired, but Irmo is a small town, just as Columbia is. There’s, there’s not a hundred different roofing companies, there’s a handful. They all know each other. They all go to conferences together. So when this black cloud was put over me, everybody was aware of what was going on. So me working for another roofing company really wasn’t an option. I reached out to three different ones. One of them straight up told me, it’s not gonna happen. Two just didn’t return my phone call. With that being said, within the industry, just using Premiere as an example, when I was hired there, he made, Mr. Robinson, made one call to the supply house that I was using when I was working in Tennessee it was a 30-second phone call and I was hired because it was simply the amount of work that I was – that—what I was actually doing, it was very quick for them to say, yeah, this guy is somebody you want to hire. So based on what I was able to do, it shouldn’t have been an issue to get a job. It, it was based solely on this bad reputation now that I had, and the fear that some of these other companies may have had with being hit with the same letter.

(R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hearing, pp. 34:17-25-35:1-22.)

Appellant did not object to this testimony and has therefore waived any objection to the evidence on the basis of speculation or conjecture. Since there is evidence in the record that supports the Master's damages findings that Respondent suffered reputational harm, health problems, and lost wages, and this Court's review is limited to the "any evidence" standard of review, this Court should uphold the damages order.

Fourth, Appellant argues that "there could be no evidence to support the premise" that Respondent has lost wages due to Appellant's actions "other than speculation." Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 10. Respondent testified in detail as set forth above that due to Appellant's actions in intentionally interfering with his employment contract, his livelihood was taken away from him. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hearing, pp. 34:17-25-35:1-22.) Respondent not only provided testimony that Appellant's acts harmed him, but he also provided a basis for the conclusion that he suffered lost wages due to Appellant's acts specifically: in the roofing industry, his name was under a "black cloud." *Id.* Since Appellant again did not object to this testimony, and since Respondent provided a basis for the conclusion that he had lost wages due to Appellant's actions, this "finding" does not require reversal of the damages order.

Fifth and sixth, Appellant complains that no medical opinion or medical records were submitted or provided to support Respondent's contention that Appellant's acts caused him health problems and complains that Respondent "did not present any evidence to support the basis for his health problems or the approximate \$14,000 in medical expenses. Initial Brief of App., p. 10. Respondent testified that he suffered medical harm due to the experience of being terminated unjustly from his employment. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hearing, p. 34:6-13.)

Again, Appellant made no specific contemporaneous objection to the same on the basis of conjecture or speculation. Appellant did make a contemporaneous hearsay objection to Respondent's testimony on his medical bills as follows:

Q: And how much were your medical bills, related to getting treatment?

OBJECTION BY MR. JOHNSON:

MR. JOHNSON: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What grounds?

MR. JOHNSON: They're—I mean, this is hearsay. There's no documentary evidence of any medical bills in this entire case.

THE COURT: Okay. Ms. Shutt?

MS. SHUTT: Your Honor, I mean, I – as I read the case law, he's allowed to testify as to the medical bills that he incurred related to his illness. We did do some discovery, we were granted summary judgment, so, I mean, this is part of his damages.

THE COURT: Okay Objection overruled.

(R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hr'g, pp. 36:23-25-37:1-13.)

Appellant did not appeal the court's determination on its hearsay objection. Now, Appellant appears to be making an argument that Respondent's testimonial evidence is speculative, but without making a specific contemporaneous objection to the same, Appellant has not preserved the matter for appellate review.

Finally, Appellant complains that the trial court's order on damages is clearly erroneous because "the [trial court's] entire rationale and analysis is based on speculation and conjecture" because it contends that Respondent did not produce evidence of his lost wages. Again, Appellant did not make a contemporaneous objection to the evidence presented at the hearing on wages, therefore it cannot now complain that the trial court's analysis of unobjected-to facts is erroneous. Respondent indeed presented evidence of

lost wages. Respondent testified that he was to receive commissions at Premiere Roofing as a part of his compensation structure. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hr'g 28:5-11.) Respondent also presented evidence of his previous earning potential in the form of testimony, to which Appellant did not object, stating that prior to working for Respondent, "the rate I was paid at was anywhere from 70 to \$110,000." (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hr'g, 18:9-13). Since Appellant did not object to any of this testimony, it is not entitled to appellate review of the trial court's reliance on the evidence presented by Respondent to make its ruling.

**b. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding attorney's fees to Respondent for violation of the Act even though Respondent allegedly incurred more attorney fees than Appellant.**

On April 28, 2022, the trial court issued sanctions against Appellant for violation of the Act in the form of attorney fees and costs. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Order.) The matter of the amount of said sanctions was referred to the Master-In-Equity for Richland County by express request of the parties specifically so that Respondent could be questioned on the stand per Appellant's request. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of Hr'g, 12:9-14.)

**i. Standard of Review**

This Court analyzes the amount of sanctions to be awarded for violation of the Act under the abuse of discretion standard. *See Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Thompson*, 424 S.C. 520, 538 n. 11, 818 S.E.2d 758, 768, n. 11 (2018). Here, the Master-in-Equity did not abuse his discretion in awarding the amount of \$77,253.73 in attorney's fees and costs as sanctions for violation of the Act.

**ii. Discussion**

On March 27, 2023, the Master-In-Equity heard testimony and evaluated evidence and ordered Appellant to pay \$77,253.73 in attorney's fees and costs for bringing and

maintaining a frivolous lawsuit against Respondent in violation of the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Sanctions Act. The basis for this award was the testimony of Respondent, who testified that he had incurred “roughly \$76,000.00” in attorney fees, which was supported by the attorney fee affidavit Respondent entered into evidence. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; Tr. of H’rg, Ex. 7.) Appellant entered no objection to this testimony or to the attorney fee affidavit. (R.p.\_\_\_\_; *Id.* 46:20.) Later, during closing arguments, Appellant’s counsel stated, “I’m not contesting the affidavit or the time, I’m just saying that the matter at hand, there’s no way it should have gotten to this point, Your Honor. It’s not reasonable in light of the case.” (R.p.\_\_\_\_; *Id.* 91:15-20.)

Appellant’s sole argument in its Initial Brief against the award of attorney’s fees and costs in this case is that the award is “not reasonable in consideration of the nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered in [the] matter.” Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 10. Assuming that Appellant intended to make an argument that the Master abused his discretion in awarding fees, Appellant fails to describe how the fees awarded are unreasonable, instead simply stating that Appellant’s counsel “did not generate a third of [Respondent’s] fees” in the case. *Id.* p. 11. Without an explanation of how Appellant believes the trial court abused its discretion on the matter of the amount of sanctions, Appellant has abandoned this argument.

- c. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining Respondent met his burden that punitive damages are appropriate because it is uncontested that Appellant intentionally interfered in Respondent’s employment contract and that Appellant has the ability to pay an award of punitive damages, and the punitive damages award is reasonably related to the harm caused by Appellant.**

Finally, Appellant argues that the trial court erred in its finding of clear and convincing evidence of the appropriateness of punitive damages. However, Appellant

waived its objection to Respondent's request for punitive damages by failing to make a contemporaneous objection to the same, and Respondent produced clear and convincing evidence to justify the award of punitive damages.

**i. Standard of Review**

As stated previously, the Court has considerable discretion in determining the amount of damages, and in this matter, the weight and credibility of the evidence is for the Court to determine. *Solley*, 397 S.C. at 203, 723 S.E.2d at 602; *Wardlaw*, 170 S.C. at 120, 169 S.E. at 841.

**ii. Discussion**

Here, the trial court, in its discretion, determined that Respondent has met his burden by providing clear and convincing evidence that punitive damages are appropriate under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-33-135. The March 27 Order reflects the Court's full consideration of each of the *Gamble* factors. See *Gamble v. Stevenson*, 305 S.C. 104, 112, 406 S.E.2d 350, 354 (1991). Accordingly, the Court examined: (1) defendant's degree of culpability; (2) duration of the conduct; (3) defendant's awareness or concealment; (4) the existence of similar past conduct; (5) likelihood the award will deter the defendant or others from like conduct; (6) whether the award is reasonably related to the harm likely to result from such conduct; (7) defendant's ability to pay; and finally, (8) other factors deemed appropriate. See *Gamble*, 305 S.C. at 112, 406 S.E.2d at 354. Further, by failing to raise a contemporaneous objection to plaintiffs' request for punitive damages a party waives any objection to the propriety of punitive damages. *Washington v. Whitaker*, 317 S.C. 108, 451 S.E.2d 894 (1994).

Appellant made no contemporaneous objection to Respondent's request for punitive damages, merely arguing in his closing that "there is nothing in the record that show that the conduct was willful, wanton, or reckless, to allow for punitive damages in this case." (R.p.\_\_\_\_; *Id.* 89:23-90:1.) Therefore, Appellant has waived any objection to Respondent's request for punitive damages, disqualifying the matter from appellate review.

Now on appeal, Appellant contends that its own culpability and awareness or concealment of its own acts have not been fleshed out in discovery. This argument was not brought up to the trial court and is therefore abandoned. This argument also fails on its face, as the record has borne out both culpability and awareness, as evinced by Appellant's counsel's statements on the record that there was no basis for the initial claims. No further discovery is necessary to "flesh out" Appellant's culpability when it has openly admitted the baselessness of its claims, and its own admission has provided the clear and convincing evidence of culpability.<sup>6</sup>

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